CASE NO. 91,216

EDWARD CASTRO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

> CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Northern Region Florida Bar No. 279080

Ō

е

•

•

8

Ó

۲

.

۲

SYLVIA W. SMITH Assistant CCC - NR Florida Bar No. 0055816 HEIDI E. BREWER Assistant CCC – NR Florida Bar No. 0046965

JOHN M. JACKSON Assistant CCC NR Florida Bar No. 0993476

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL -NORTHERN REGION 1533-B South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

C

i

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Edward Castro was born in El Centro, California. As an infant, Edward **was** hospitalized 4 times for bowel problems and dehydration. He was a very sick infant and required alot of special case. His mother indicated that he was born prematurely and had difficulty achieving early developmental tasks. He could not walk until age two. Through childhood, he suffered from poverty, neglect and social alienation. At age two, his parents divorced. Brigado Castro, Edward's father, had been abusive toward Edward's mother and had a drinking problem. Edward did not see his father again till he was an adult. Edward and his siblings were frequently left alone. From age 2-4, Edward was sent by his mother to Tijuana, Mexico to be cared for by acquaintances who physically abused and neglected him and his siblings. At age three, Edward began consuming alcohol given to him by the Tijuana caretakers (PC-R. 2801-11).

At age 4, Edward's mother remarried to Bill Minor. Bill was also an alcoholic, like Edward's mother. The children would frequently be left in the car while their mother and step-father drank. <u>Id</u>.

Sometime between the ages of four and eight, Edward was physically and sexually abused by an uncle and cousin. Edward was forced to perform sexual acts and to engage in incest with his sister, Edward's uncle reportedly slammed **a** car trunk on Edward's head when he was six. Edward began to suffer from

severe headaches and to have nightmares. At age 8, Edward was reportedly also molested by a babysitter. <u>Id</u>.

Edward completed the 8th grade. However, Edward, one of the only Mexican-American males attending an all white suburban high school, suffered alienation, became extremely introverted and dropped out of high school. Edward had been suspended many times from school and often locked himself in the house refusing to come out. <u>Id</u>.

At 17, and at the urging of his father, Edward joined the U.S. Marine Corps. Castro began drinking heavily and about this time his mother and step-father broke up. Five months later, he deserted his Marine post and was convicted and sentenced for auto theft and reckless driving in Canada. Upon release, he was apprehended by the FBI and eventually sentenced to 6 months for desertion. <u>Id</u>.

At age 23, Edward married Darlene Castro and had two sons. Edward made an effort to afford the family a stable home life and stopped drinking for one year by attending AA meetings. But eventually his alcoholism relapsed. His drinking was **a** factor in his subsequent troubles. He was cut in fights which occurred while he was drinking and he had one serious car accident in which he suffered a head injury. He began suffering alcoholic blackouts. At one point, he reentered rehab. <u>Id</u>.

At 28, Edward and Darlene divorced. Following the divorce, Edward suffered a mental breakdown and cut his wrist. His mother

almost had him committed to a mental institution. At 29, he again entered a substance abuse treatment program. <u>Id</u>.

From age 31-36, Edward lived on and off with Shirley Castro, who became his common-law wife in California. According to Shirley, when Edward was not on drinking binges, he engaged in excessive cleaning rituals. Shirley observed that Edward had another personality when he was in a drunken state and that he in his alcoholic blackouts, he even called himself by another name, Tony Valdez. Edward suffered numerous additional head injuries as a result of assaults suffered by police and other men. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Castro has been diagnosed with Dependent Personality Disorder (1982); Chronic Alcohol Abuse in Remission (1982); Borderline Personality Disorder (1987); Mild Depression (1987); Mixed Personality Disorder (1988); Alcohol and Drug- Addicted Personality (1988) Adjustment Disorder (1989); Organic Brain Syndrome (1990); Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (1990); Advanced Chemical Dependency (1990) Memory Disorder (1990); and Mild to Moderate Cortical Dysfunction (1993) (PC-R2. 2799-2800).

At age 36, Mr. Castro was indicted by the grand jury on January 29, 1987 (R. 2517) and charged with first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon.

Jury trial commenced January 19, 1988. Mr. Castro was found guilty of both counts. The jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 10 to 2. The trial court sentenced Mr. Castro to death but this Court vacated that sentence and remanded for resentencing due to the failure of the trial court to instruct

the jury that they could consider non-statutory mitigating factors and the erroneous presentation and admission of irrelevant and presumptively prejudicial testimony of collateral crimes. <u>Castro v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1989).

At the resentencing, the jury recommended the death penalty by 8 to 4. On September 4, 1990, the trial court sentenced Mr. Castro to death however this Court vacated the sentence and remanded the matter for resentencing because the trial court erred in refusing to disqualify the Fifth Judicial Circuit State Attorney's Office. <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So. 2d 259 (1992).

At the second resentencing in February, 1993, the jury recommended the death penalty by 8 to 4. On April 12, 1993, the trial court sentenced Mr. Castro to death (R3. 317-28) . This Court affirmed the sentence on September 8, 1994. <u>Castro v.</u> <u>State,</u> 644 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994). Appellate counsel did not file a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on any guilt or penalty phase issues. Mr. Castro's conviction and sentence became final in December of 1994 nearly eight years since his arrest.

On December 27, 1994, Mr. Castro wrote a letter to Capital Collateral Representative Chief Assistant Martin J. McClain (PC-R2. 2705). In said letter, Mr. Castro requested that the work on his case be placed "in your office, and proceed as such - a Writ of Habeous [sic] Corpus be submitted to the U.S. Supreme Court for review of the one issue pertaining to Motion to Suppress all statements made by me during the interrogation period after my arrest!" (PC-R2. 2705).

On January 29, 1995, Mr. Castro wrote CCR Chief Assistant M.J. McClain stating:

"<u>I am requestimpresentation by your</u> office of C.C.R. on the followins . . . "

"I am waiving Certiorari, 3.850 in the state level and wish to move forward to the Federal District Court on a writ of Habeas Corpus concerning one issue of my appeal -Motion to Suppress! !"

"Should your Coalition choose not to file the Writ of Habeous [sic] Corpus for me, please send me an address to the court which I can file to for representation."

(PC-R2. 2706).

On February 8, 1995, Mr. Castro wrote Capital Collateral Representative, Michael Minerva stating:

This is to inform you that I spoke with both Theresa Walsh, and Martin McClain. I instructed them both that I am waiving, Certiorari & 3.850, Post Conviction Relief in the state level.

I choose to move forward on a federal Writ of Habeous Corpus concerning one trial issue, Motion to Suppress, and filing it in the Federal District Court.

Mr. Minerva, I do not wish to wait in line for representation to be assigned to me by CCR - I am requesting lawyers be assigned to help me file this Writ of Habeous Corpus, immediately. I wish to have the Writ in the Federal District Court before Sept. 95! If your office wishes not to participate in my waiving of the state procedure, please let me know, immediately!

Should I have problems in obtaining representation for the filing of the federal writ of Habeous Corpus I will stop all appeal immediately.

Sir, please assign a lawyer immediately to represent me in this legal maneuver!

(PC-R2. 2707-08).

Then around March 9, 1995, Mr. Castro wrote Assistant CCR, Jennifer Corey, stating:

> Ms. Corey, here is the package permit. <u>Thank you for your assistance in all things!!</u> My apology for the tangent in our discourse this last meeting. My decision to proceed as I am is a firm decision, thus my emotions. I do appreciate your assistance, and want to meet with you soon, if you're willing? <u>I still have need for legal advice</u> concernins the 3.851, (papers to file pro se?)

(PC-R2. 2709).

On March 22, 1995, Mr. Castro wrote Capital Collateral Representative, Michael Minerva stating:

I've received copies of both your filing a Motion for Extension of Time, on behalf of me, in the Florida Supreme Court, on Mar. 15, 1995, case No. 81,731 and the State's response opposing this action.

Sir, I noted, your office never informed me of this intention, nor did you send a copy to me -- Mr. Richard B. Martell Esq. Chief, Cap. Appeals, Fla. Bar No. 300179, Office of Attorney General did furnish me with a copy of the response of the State.

I do not appreciate your office filing motions on my behalf without consulting me. <u>Our decision has, been made, your office will</u> <u>not represent me, I relieve your office of</u> <u>all legal responsibilities concernins my</u> <u>appeal.</u>

Mr. Minerva, I have written a letter to Mr. Richard B. Martell and the Office of the Attorney General informing them of my wish to waive 3.850 - under Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993). I waive the right to a 3.850 motion - and have asked his office to present to the Fla. Sup. Court my desire to relieve Your office of any responsibilities concernins my appeal. Also that the filing of this motion for extension of time, by your office, was done without my permission or request. Sir, a copy of the letter which I've mailed to the Attorney General's Office will arrive at your office.

Again, your office does <u>not</u> represent me. I do <u>not</u> want representation from your office, You're office is deceptive and self serving. I am firm with my decision to waive all collateral remedies in state level courts.

(PC-R2. 2711-12).

Then on March 22, 1995, Mr. Richard Martell, Chief, Capital Appeals, Office of the Attorney General, filed a letter from Mr. Castro stating:

I am in receipt of the State's Response to Motion for Extension of time, Etc./Motion to Strike.

Sir, thank you for this copy! I am writing this letter to inform you that C.C.R. is <u>not</u> authorized by me to represent me in any manner. I have dismissed them of any responsibilities concerning my appeal.

Mr. Martell, you may present this letter to the court - "I am competently waiving 3.850 or any potential remedy from state level courts. I do <u>not</u> need an extension for filing 3.850. I have no intention of filing 3.850 and am prepared to move forward,

Under Durocher v. Singletary, 623 F\So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993) I Edward Castro invoke my right to waive 3.850 and further state remedies!

Mr. Martell, I am interested in being advised as to how to formally effectuate waivers of any collateral remedies. I desire to waive! Which Circuit Court has jurisdiction over my appeal? Please send the address, and if possible advise me on procedures to formally invoke my rights to waive collateral remedies.

I Edward Castro #110488 move this Honorable Court to strike the instant motion for extension of time by C.C.R. - they are asking for an extension on time on **a** motion of 3.850 that will never take place. A) They do <u>not</u> represent me by my choice, B) I waive 3.850 under Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1993) competently. I make above proposals without coercion, and competently.

(PC-R2. 2712-13).

The Capital Collateral Representative's (CCR's) request for an extension of time to designate counsel was denied on May 9, 1995 by this Court and the Court ordered the pleadings under Rule 3.850 and 3.851 be filed on or before March 20, 1996. <u>Castro v.</u> <u>State</u>, No. 81,731 (Fla. May 9, 1995) (order granting extension of time).

Mr. Castro was provided collateral counsel who began requesting and obtaining public records, conducting an investigation, and interviewing Mr. Castro. Mr. Castro agreed that public records should be obtained and provided a signed release to his attorney and investigator. Mr. Castro met with his collateral counsel and investigator numerous times and was consulted regarding the investigation and litigation.

In September of 1995, public records requests were made on the Office of the State Attorney for the Fifth Judicial Circuit. Mr. Castro's investigator had numerous conversations with representatives of the SAO and was informed that no files existed in their office due to the assignment of the case to the Office of the State Attorney for the Seventh Judicial Circuit.

On October 9, 1995, Mr. Castro's investigation requested records from the Seventh Circuit SAO, on the 16th and 18th the investigator called the Office and because the records department could not find the request, re-faxed it. On the 24th, the records department called to say that the Deland (Volusia County)

Office had sent the file to the Fifth Circuit SAO in Ocala (Marion County) at their request and that only now did she have it back from Mr. Brad King, the State Attorney for the Fifth Circuit. The records department promised to call when the file was copied.

On October 24th, collateral counsel also received a letter from the Fifth SAO stating that the files had been sent to the Seventh Circuit SAO pursuant to the Special Order of the Governor.

On October 31, 1995 the Seventh Circuit SAO called to say the file of 2200 pages was copied. After negotiations over the State's request for prepayment, the file was received on December 18, 1995. In the records received were the following receipt prepared by the Fifth Circuit SAO and on their letterhead, signed by an Assistant State Attorney for the Seventh Circuit SAO:

May 19, 1992

RE: STATE OF FLORIDA VS EDWARD CASTRO, CASE NO: 87-119-CF

RECEIPT FOR THE CASTRO FILE FROM THE STATE ATTORNEY'S OFFICE OCALA, FLORIDA, TO THE OFFICE OF THE STATE ATTORNEY, SEVENTH CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, PURSUANT TO GOVERNOR'S ASSIGNMENT.

TOTAL OF 4 BOXES.

/s/

ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY SEVENTH CIRCUIT VOLUSIA COUNTY (PC-R. 696). This document was evidence that the Fifth Circuit SAO compiled a very large file before they transferred the case to the Seventh Circuit SAO for resentencing, yet collateral counsel had only received 2200 pages or 2 boxes of materials.

This document of communication from the Fifth Circuit SAO to the Seventh Circuit SAO after the files were received by the Seventh Circuit SAO a week previously was also found:

### INVESTIGATION REPORT

TO:	RICHARD WHITSON, ASA	DATE: 5/27/92
FROM:	DOUG WOODALL, SAI	FILE <b>#CF87-119,</b> 5TH CIRCUIT

RE: EDWARD CASTRO

#### SYNOPSIS:

Per vour instructions, I went throush all of the materials in each of the four case file boxes regarding Castro. I removed all handwritten notes; however, I did leave some annotated typewritten pages due to their being so many. If you want all of these removed as well, please advise.

/s/ D.S. Woodall

(PC-R. 697). This document evidences that the Fifth Circuit SAO culled its handwritten notes from its file prior to transferring its files to the Seventh Circuit SAO for resentencing.

On January 26, 1996, undersigned collateral counsel wrote the Seventh and Fifth Circuit SAOs requesting the missing materials. On February 7, 1996, a reply was received stating the SAO for the Fifth had no additional information. On February 16,

1996, a reply was received stating that the SAO for the Seventh had sent everything.

On January 18, 1996, Mr. Castro wrote Assistant CCR, Sylvia Smith stating:

> Recently I received a letter from my mother, Angel V. Minor, stating that an investigator by the name of Formosa intends to meet with her and members of my family. Why was I not informed of this? I distinctly ordered no contact with my immediate family without first consulting me. It appears to me that your office is again undermining my wishes - -Attn. Sylvia Smith, I am requesting a face to face conference with you or Brett before the ending of January '96 - <u>I would</u> <u>like to discuss the progress of my appellate</u> procedure and where we stand.

(PC-R2. 2715).

The record also contained the following observations of collateral counsel from visitation with Mr. Castro around this time:

#### MEMORANDUM

TO:	Bret Strand
FROM:	Sylvia Smith
DATE:	January 26, 1996
RE:	Visit with Edward Castro

I saw Edward Castro this week again and wanted to pass on to you the following. Edward explained that he has no problem with anyone from his legal team speaking with his mother or any other member of his family. He only has a concern that no one scare her.

We discussed his habeas petition. Towards the last ten minutes of the visit, he finally told me he thousht I had said we would not be filing his federal habeas until after March 20. And he had heard that if he was not in federal court by that time, he would be warrant eligible at that time. I told him that we would be in court by March 20 and he would not be warrant eligible at that time. He was relieved.

We discussed legal matters at length. We also had discussions about death. Edward told me that he believes that electricity cannot kill his spirit because it is the presence of electricity that determines when the brain is alive or dead.

He told me he thinks he will be the first Hispanic electrocuted in Florida, because he is US born, unlike other immigrant Hispanics. He thinks a lot of Hispanic get relief in part because their home governments would not like it if the US executed them.

(PC-R2. 2721).

On February 2, 1996, Mr. Castro wrote Assistant CCR, Sylvia

Smith, stating:

I am in receipt of your recent correspondence and the 20x32¢ stamps - and, yes, I do like the artwork on these stamps -(Have you heard about the new Richard Nixon stamps? Apparently there was a misprint on a few stamps and one of the Nixon stamps sold for \$16,000. The misprint is a stamp with half of Nixon's head on top of the stamp and half on the bottom!! Be on the look out for these valuable stamps.)

Thank you for the stamps and for the kind words - I too enjoyed our last visit.

Bret S. was by this past week - He mentioned to me that you were in a grey area concerning the reading glasses which I asked you for - Don't concern yourself with the glasses. Thank you for remembering. This April I will go to the Optometrist to have a new set of glasses made for me. They will test my eyes for the needed strength!! Thank you for your concern.

Yes ! I would like to see you again soon - for now I've requested to Bret that nothing be filed concerning my appeal, and I am, for now, against suing the agencies Bret mentioned. I am thinking everything over and when we meet we can discuss the particulars

# concerning this federal Writ of Habeous Corpus!!

(PC-R2. 2716-17).

Public records litigation began in February of 1996 when <u>Hoffman</u> suits were filed against state agencies outside the jurisdiction of the Seventh Circuit and on March 20, 1996, an initial Motion for Postconviction Relief was filed (PC-R. 10-159). The Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend alleged that records requests of sixteen (16) agencies had not fully been complied with (Claim I). The motion, incomplete due to the lack of full chapter **119** compliance, alleged 28 claims including that:

- the state relied on misleading and/or false testimony regarding Mr. Castro's intoxication at the time he allegedly waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights and/or that counsel 13D in litigating the statements issues constituted prejudicial ineffective assistance of counsel (Claim II).

- that violations of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, <u>Giglio v.</u> <u>United States</u>, and/or trial counsel's ineffectiveness resulted in the denial of an adversarial testing of the State's unlawful stop and arrest of Mr. Castro (Claim III).

- that violations of <u>Brady v. Maryland, Roman v. State</u>, and **Giqlio v. United States** arising from the State's failure to fully disclose information regarding its deal with key witness, Bobby **McKnight**, and presentation of false representations that Mr. McKnight had not been charged with first degree murder, when in fact he had initially been so charged, and/or counsel's ineffectiveness for failure to discover this information rendered Mr. Castro's conviction unconstitutional (Claim IV) .

- that Mr. Castro was denied a venire comprised of a fair cross-section of the community because only 5.6% of the venire was black in a 13.1% black county and that trial counsel's failure to discover this clear violation of Mr. Castro's rights was unreasonable and prejudicial (Claim V) .

That motion was verified by counsel who attested that he believed Mr. Castro was incompetent to verify the pleading (PC-R. 156).

And further, the record contains these observations of undersigned:

#### MEMORANDUM

то:	Bret Strand
FROM:	Sylvia Smith
DATE:	March 27, 1996
RE:	Recent visits with Edward Castro

In recent visits, Edward described three distinct personalties existing within him. This summary is based on his representations.

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