# FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 4 1998

CLERK, SUPREMB COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EDWARD CASTRO,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 91,216

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Under settled law, CCRC has no "right" to represent a defendant who does not want their services. Castro knowingly and

voluntarily waived representation by CCRC, and, because that is true, this appeal is no more than an unauthorized proceeding initiated by attorneys who do not represent Castro.

Castro was found competent at the time of his initial trial, and, based upon that determination, a presumption of competence attaches. Further, as the record of the proceedings demonstrates, Castro is unquestionably competent to represent himself. The finding of the trial court to that effect is supported by the record, is not an abuse of discretion, and should be affirmed in all respects.

CCRC's claim concerning the evidentiary hearing on Castro's competence has no basis in law or fact. The determination of a competency question is the perogative of the trial court -- it is not contingent upon the testimony of expert witnesses. Under these facts, the record of the final hearing in this cause leaves no doubt that Castro is competent. To the extent that CCRC argues that the competency findings made by Judge Sawaya are a nullity because he recused himself, there is no legal basis for that claim.

CCRC's argument that no death-sentenced inmate should ever be allowed to waive collateral attack on that sentence has no basis in law or reason. Moreover, this claim is procedurally barred because it was not raised in the trial court.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. CCRC HAS NO "RIGHT" TO REPRESENT CASTRO

On pages 12-53 of the brief, CCRC advances various arguments in support of its claim that the trial court erred in granting Castro's motion to discharge his CCRC attorneys and to represent himself in his collateral attack proceedings. Despite CCRC's efforts to transform this appeal into a proceeding that states a cognizable basis for review, the fact is that this appeal represents an unauthorized filing by attorneys who do not represent Castro, and whose representation he has expressly rejected.

In Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So.2d 482 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated:

To forestall further argument, we also hold that CCR has no standing as a "next friend" to proceed on Durocher's behalf. Although petitions may be filed by "a friendly person in the interest of the person illegally detained. ... mere volunteers who do not appear on behalf of the prisoner or show some right to represent him will not be heard." (FN6) State ex rel. Deeb v. Fabisinski, 111 Fla. 454, 461, 152 So. 207, 209 (1933). To be a next friend "must provide an adequate explanation -- such as inaccessibility, mental incompetence, or other disability -- why the real party in interest cannot appear on his own behalf." Whitmore, 495 U.S. at 163, 110 S.Ct. at 1727. Moreover, a next friend has the burden "to establish the propriety of his status and thereby justify the jurisdiction of the court.' Id. 495 U.S. at 164, 110 S.Ct. at 1727; Hamblen v. Dugger, 748 F.Supp. 1497 (M.D.Fla.1990); see Demosthenes v. Baal, 495 U.S. 731, 110 S.Ct. 2223, 109 L.Ed.2d 762 (1990). CCR has not met this burden. As a "mere volunteer," therefore, it has no standing as a next friend of Durocher. Cf. Whitmore; (FN7) Baal; (FN8) Brewer; (FN9) Lenhard, 603 F.2d 91; (FN10) Hamblen, 748 F.Supp. 1497; (FN11) Evans. (FN12)

FN6. A similar rule is in effect in the

federal courts: "It was not intended that the writ of habeas corpus should be availed of, as a matter of course, by intruders or uninvited meddlers, styling themselves next friends." Wilson v. Dixon, 256 F.2d 536, 538 (9th Cir.1958).

FN7. Denying next friend standing to a fellow inmate.

FN8. Denying next friend standing to Baal's parents.

FN9. Denying next friend standing to Brewer's mother.

FN10. Denying next friend standing to volunteer attorneys.

FN11. Denying next friend standing to CCR.

FN12. Denying next friend standing to Evans' mother.

Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So.2d at 486. Despite the claims to the contrary, CCRC is no more than a volunteer who has filed a brief on behalf of an inmate who has expressly and unequivocally rejected their services. The law is clear that Castro can refuse CCRC's services if he chooses to do so, and, so long as his decision is knowing and voluntary, that decision should be respected. Durocher, supra; see also, Sanchez-Velasco v. State, No. 89,511 (Fla., Dec. 4, 1997).

In this case, as in *Durocher*, CCRC asserts that Castro is "incompetent" to waive collateral review of his conviction and sentence of death. In support of this claim of incompetence, CCRC complains about the "adequacy" of the "waiver hearing" conducted by

the trial court. However, noticeably absent from CCRC's brief is any argument or assertion based upon anything other than speculation. In contrast, Castro, through his letters that have been filed with this Court, through his court-ordered evaluations, and through his interaction with the trial judge at the June 24, 1997 hearing, has clearly shown himself to be competent to make a knowing and voluntary waiver of his collateral proceedings, (R882-91). That decision is Castro's to make, and it is his right to decide to forego further review of his conviction and sentence if he wishes to follow that course. In Durocher, this Court echoed the holding of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in Lenhard v. Wolff, 603 F.2d 91, 94 (9th Cir. 1979), where the concurring Judge stated:

Bishop is an individual who, for reasons I can fathom only slightly, has chosen to forego his federal remedies. Assuming his competence, which on this record I must, he should be free to so choose. To deny him that would be to incarcerate his spirit -- the one thing that remains free and which the state need not and should not imprison.

Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So.2d at 484. The United States Supreme Court followed the Ninth Circuit's ruling, stating:

however worthy and high minded the motives of "next friends" may be, they inevitably run the risk of making the actual defendant a pawn to be manipulated on a chessboard larger than his own case. The idea that the deliberate decision of one under sentence of death to abandon possible additional legal avenues of attack on that sentence cannot be a rational decision, regardless

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When specifically asked about evidence of incompetence, the CCRC attorneys were unable to identify any such evidence for Judge Singbush. (R793-4).

of its motive, suggests that the preservation of one's own life at whatever cost is the *summum bonum*, a proposition with respect to which the greatest philosophers and theologians have not agreed and with respect to which the United States Constitution by its terms does not speak.

Lenhard v. Wolff, 443 U.S. 1306, 1312-13, 100 S.Ct. 3, 6-7, 61 L.Ed.2d 885 (1979) (Rehnquist, J.). Castro has made his decision as clearly known as he possibly can -- that is his decision, and it should be respected.

## II. CASTRO'S COMPETENCE IS NOT IN QUESTION

Throughout CCRC's brief, numerous complaints appear concerning the "inadequacy" of the October 4, 1996, "competency hearing." Those claims ignore the irreconcilable inconsistency between asserting that Castro is competent to verify a Rule 3.850 motion, but yet is incompetent to represent himself. Those positions are mutually exclusive.

Castro was found competent to stand trial at the time of the original guilt phase proceeding (R509), and, based upon that prior determination, a presumption of competence attaches. *Durocher*, supra, at 484". Moreover, CCRC's claims ignore the extensive interaction between Castro and the trial court during the June 24, 1997, proceeding. During that proceeding, Castro engaged in a lengthy discourse with the trial court, and repeatedly maintained

<sup>&</sup>quot;Castro was evaluated at the time of his original trial by Dr. Harry Krop, who found him competent. (R509; 797). Dr. Krop testified in the October 14, 1996, hearing about that evaluation, as well as about his subsequent evaluation of Castro. Id.

his intent to waive further review and dismiss his state post-conviction proceeding and any ancillary matters. For example, Castro stated:

I'm completely opposed to the motions that are being heard today. They are not being filed, they are not being filed by my permission. I no longer acknowledge CCR as my representing attorneys.

I just want to make it clear to the Court that the hearing that is taking place today is taking place entirely against my wishes. It is not -- it is my wish to withdraw my verification of 3.850. It is my wish to withdraw all my signatures that were -- that pertain to the Florida Chapter 319, or 119, Chapter 119's.

And it's my desire, and I would like to place it on record, to -- under *Durocher versus Singletary*, to withdraw all my collateral remedies in the State level and Federal levels.

(R757-8). In a statement that echoes Chief Justice Rehnquist's comments in *Lenhard*, Castro stated:

Sir, well, the way I perceive it is that I have attorneys that are trying to represent me as incompetent merely for the fact that it suits their cause; not necessarily on a personal basis, but it serves their cause in their efforts to save other lives on Death Row.

So I understand how a particular case such as myself, such as my case can set precedent for the future cases. I understand that. So -- the fight that that they make is not necessarily just for me as opposed to people on Death Row. And as I told CCR, I understand that fully.

But it still -- it is still my individual case. And regardless of how it affects other cases, I still have individual rights as a United States citizen. I was born and raised in the United States and I know --

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>As Castro put it, "I have enough pride in myself today to accept my responsibilities. And if this is the sentence imposed by the State, then so be it. I'm prepared to accept it." (R783).

Although my rights are limited today because I am a convicted felon, I still retain a limited amount of rights. And one of those rights is to choose whether I wish to be represented or not, or desire to further proceed in any legal matters.

. . .

(R786-7). The trial court conducted a *Faretta* inquiry of Castro, which established that Castro is well aware of the dangers and pitfalls associated with self-representation. (R855-872; 875-76). At the conclusion of that inquiry, the trial court stated:

THE COURT: Okay. Any other points by any party?

(No response.)

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Well, sir, I have to at this point make some findings. The first finding that I need to make is one that comes fairly easily. I've had an opportunity to listen to you, to watch your reaction here in court, to observe your demeanor.

You have been entirely appropriate. Were you dressed in a suit instead of red and white, you would have been --you would have presented a picture to the Court of someone who was fully versed and comfortable with his role in the courtroom.

You have a good understanding of where you are and what you're doing here and you've been very courteous. Your responses to the court's inquiry, your declarations to the Court have been evidence in my mind of the fact that you are self-motivated, that you're intelligent, that you're alert, that you are conscious of the implications and ramifications, both short — and long-term, of the decisions that you make or fail to make, of the things that you do or fail to do. In fact, we've explored some of those in brief.

You've explained to me your motivation for wanting to discharge your attorneys. And, again, I find that it is a legitimate reason.

Interestingly, one of the statements in our Constitution

says that every natural citizen has the right to be let alone and free from unreasonable governmental intrusion, even, I suppose, in this case from folks who mean well, whose help you no longer want.

You're right, sir. You're an adult and you don't want another mommy -- that's what you've told me -- even though these people could be of great benefit to you. You're aware of that.

I find you to be of sufficient education and ability to comprehend and sufficiently experienced in criminal matters to proceed forward as you deem it to be in your best interest to do so.

You have the tools available to you in terms of resources in looking up law and you understand those resources that would be outside the confines of the tiny cell that you are in that are vast that you will no longer have access to if I grant your request.

And yet you believe it to be in your interests because it is your desire to do so, to assert your right as a man, to control your own destiny to the extent that you are able, that you wish to proceed without the benefit of those resources. Correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Correct.

THE COURT: You have told me that you are not under the influence of any drug, that you take no medications.

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: This is true?

THE DEFENDANT: This is true, yes, sir.

THE COURT: I find that that -- notwithstanding your knowledge of the dangers of self-representation, and notwithstanding all of the things that you will give up, I find that your decision to proceed pro se is freely knowingly and intelligently made, sir.

And I regret that, because these people have worked hard for you. But I believe it to be your right, as long as it is knowingly and freely and intelligently made, to discharge counsel and to proceed pro se. After all,

government works for the people and you're one of those people.

I further find that as a potential barrier to proceeding today that as to the issues raised in the discovery motion issue that counsel has made much about -- "Well, we don't think we got all of these documents" and that sort of thing -- you heard all of that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And without regard to your declarations to the Court that you didn't even want to know about all of that stuff, probably because you were there at the time, I find that particular material does not constitute a barrier to the Court's going forward today on the motion filed by the State for a number of reasons.

First, whether or not one or more documents may have been produced in one or more boxes dating back to 1992 and what we may idly speculate may have been contained within them doesn't bear on your present ability to proceed in your own best interests, as long as you are self-motivated, as long as you're intelligent, as long as you're alert and as long as you're not suffering any mental deficiency.

You have no mental deficiency observable by the Court. A court of competent jurisdiction, this very Court has found you to be competent.

There has been no motion that would challenge the veracity or the legality of that motion in proper fashion nor have I seen cause or reason for such motion to be filed after observing you today, sir, and after having read your correspondence, and after having heard your words and testimony here today.

I might not choose to make the decision that you make here today, but it is my legal responsibility to give you the authority to make that decision, and that I do.

And for that reason and for, as I previously articulated, the reason related to the discovery matters, I'll also find for the record that there was no motion to set aside, to quash notice of this hearing so that this other matter could have been litigated first.

It was not set down to be heard. It was just kind of thrown up there. And I don't say that to be critical, because if I were sitting next to a fellow that I didn't think was doing the right thing, boy, I would be shooting off fireworks if I could, saying: "Don't let him do it, Judge." I'd look for any reason I could.

I'm going to let you discharge your attorneys, sir, and I'm going to relieve them of any further case responsibility in this cause and discharge CCR of any further obligation to represent you in any State or Federal proceeding related to this case.

Now, as to the -- that means you're representing yourself.

THE DEFENDANT: Correct.

(R882-886).

That in-court examination of Castro clearly established his competence to discharge his attorneys, and, because the decision of the trial court is not an abuse of discretion, it should not be disturbed. Under Florida law,

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